
   
 

 
Rent Stabilization Board 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 � TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT) � TDD: (510) 981-6903 � FAX: (510) 981-4940 

EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info  � WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent  

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

BUDGET & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MEETING 

Thursday, June 11, 2020 

5:00 p.m.  

 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 

VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE 

 

Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 2020, this 

meeting of the Rent Stabilization Board’s Budget & Personnel Committee (Committee) will be conducted 

exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be advised that pursuant to the 

Executive Order and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public by limiting 

human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical meeting location 

available. 
 

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 

URL: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85047313802. If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then 

use the drop-down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use 

the “raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the screen. 

 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Webinar ID: 850 4731 3802. If you wish to comment during 

the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the Committee Chair. 

 

To submit an e-mail comment to be read aloud during public comment, email mbrown@cityofberkeley.info 

with the Subject Line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR BUDGET & PERSONNEL 

COMMITTEE”. Please observe a 150-word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written 

comments will be entered into the public record.  Email comments must be submitted to the email address 

above by 3:00 p.m. on the day of the Committee meeting in order to be included.  

 

Please be mindful that this meeting will be recorded, and all other rules of procedure and decorum will apply 

for meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 

local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 

may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Matt Brown, Acting Executive 

Director, at (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any subject listed on the 

Agenda. 



COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 

This meeting is being held in a wheelchair-accessible location.   

To request disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting,  

including auxiliary aids or services, please contact Aimee Mueller at 981-4932  

or 981-6903 (TDD) at least three business days before the meeting date.   

 

Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting. 
 

Rent Stabilization Board                                 
 

 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

BUDGET & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MEETING 

Thursday, June 11, 2020 – 5:00 p.m.  

 

AGENDA 

1. Roll Call 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 

 

3. Public Comment 

 

4. Approval of June 5, 2020 Meeting Minutes (Attached to Agenda) 
 

5. Discussion, and Possible Action regarding Recommendation to full Board to Adopt 

Fiscal Year (FY) 2020/21 Line-Item Budget, Staffing Model & Expenditure Level (See 

Attached Staff Report). 

 

6. Discussion and Possible Action on possible trainings and team-building excercises for 

Commissioners 

 

7. Future agenda items  

 

� Recruitment options for vacant Executive Director position 

� Mid-year Budget Review 

 

8. Discussion and Possible Action to set next committee meeting 

 

9. Adjournment 

 

STAFF CONTACT:  Matt Brown, Acting Executive Director   (510) 981-7368 

COMMITTEE:  Paola Laverde, Leah Simon-Weisberg, John Selawasky, Igor Tregub (Chair) 



Rent Stabilization Board

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

BUDGET & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MEETING 

Friday, June 5, 2020 – 8:00 a.m. 

Meeting Minutes To Be approved 

1. Roll Call. – 8:11 a.m.

Members present: Laverde (left meeting at 8:55am, Selawsky Simon-Weisberg, and

Tregub (arrived at 8:20 a.m.)

Staff present: Bursell, and Brown.

2. Approval of Agenda. M/S/C (Laverde, Simon-Weisber ) Approve agenda. Roll call vote.

YES: Laverde, Simon-Weisberg, Selawsky. NO: None: Abstain: None: ABSENT:

Tregub.  Carried: 3-0-0-1.

3. Public Comment. One speaker.

4. Approval of May 13, 2020 Meeting Minutes (Attached to Agenda).  M/S/C (Laverde,

Simon-Weisberg). Roll call vote. YES: Laverde, Simon-Weisberg, Selawsky. NO:

None: Abstain: None: ABSENT: Tregub.  Carried: 3-0-0-1.

5. Update, Discussion, and Possible Action regarding Fiscal Year 2020/2021 budget (See

attached report). No action taken.

6. Discusion and Possible Action regarding current staffing model and potential

adjustments. Committee asked staff about giving public trainings and workshops over

Zoom platform and to post video trainings on the web. No other action taken.

7. Discussion and Possible Action on possible trainings and team-building excercises for

Commissioners. M/S/C (Laverde, Tregub) Review trainings and film series from World

Trust for inclusion in training and team-building recommendation to the full Board. Roll

call vote. YES: Simon-Weisberg, Selawsky, Tregub. NO: None: Abstain: None:

ABSENT: Laverde.  Carried: 3-0-0-1.

8. Future agenda items and scheduling next meeting. The Committee agreed to meet next

on Thursday, June 11th at 5:00 p.m, pending Rent Board Chair Laverde’s availability.

Thursday, June 11th at 8:00 a.m was agreed upon as an alternate meeting time.

The Committee agreed to add proposals on trainings and team-building exercises to their

next agenda and added “Recruitment options for vacant Executive Director position” as

Item 4.



Budget & Personnel Committee Minutes 

Page 2 

 

 
 2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, California 94704 

 TEL: (510)981-7368 (981-RENT) •••• TDD: (510)981-6903 •••• FAX: (510)981-4910 

 E-MAIL: rent@ci.berkeley.ca.us ••••    INTERNET: www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/rent/ 

a future agenda item. 

 

9. Adjournment. M/S/C (Tregub, Simon-Weisberg) Adjourn meeting. Roll call vote. YES: 

Simon-Weisberg, Selawsky, Tregub. NO: None: Abstain: None: ABSENT: Laverde.  

Carried: 3-0-0-1.  Meeting adjourned at 9:06 a.m. 

 

STAFF CONTACT:  Matt Brown, Acting Executive Director   (510) 981-7368 





















































Page 1 of 21 

Rent Stabilization Board 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

DATE:  June 20, 2019   

TO: Honorable Members of the Rent Stabilization Board 

FROM: Jay Kelekian, Executive Director 

SUBJECT: Rent Stabilization and Good Cause for Eviction in the 21st Century 

During the FY 2012/2013 budget process, Board members indicated that while they had a good 
understanding of the Board’s finances, they and the public would benefit from a greater 
understanding of the ongoing and ever evolving work performed by the Rent Stabilization 
Program staff.  The Budget and Personnel Committee agreed and asked that staff put together a 
report with some historical context on the work of the agency. For the past several years we have 
updated the document and included it as background information for the Board and public when 
reviewing our budget and program. 

This report, which was originally prepared in 2012, describes how the Berkeley Rent 
Stabilization Board has adapted to the passage of vacancy decontrol and how it is working to 
ensure continued and effective enforcement of rent regulations and good cause for eviction in the 
21st century.  It provides a historical perspective that illuminates the major administrative and 
staffing changes we have carried out over the years. While I have updated portions of the report, 
the core remains relatively unchanged. The citizens of Berkeley established our agency and its 
mission in 1980 and have reaffirmed it many times over the succeeding years. Although 
conditions have changed around us we can say with pride that we have adapted to those changes 
and continue to provide effective and efficient administration of the Ordinance.   

We hope that this report will help provide the Board and public with a good understanding, not 
just of what we do now, but also how our work has evolved over the years and what we hope and 
expect to do in the near future.   

Attachment 2



Page 2 of 21 
 

 

 
Rent Stabilization Board 

  
RENT STABILIZATION AND EVICTION FOR GOOD CAUSE IN THE 21ST CENTURY 

 
June 20, 2019 

 
Introduction 

This report explains how Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board has adapted to the passage of 
vacancy decontrol and is working to ensure continued and effective enforcement of rent 
regulations and good cause for eviction in the 21st Century.   

Section One reviews the purposes of the Rent Board and the scope of the Board’s mandate, 
which is to implement an ordinance designed to help level the playing field and ensure fair 
treatment for both landlords and tenants in a region where tenants, who are mostly low-income, 
have little market power.  

Section Two compares the strong, active enforcement approach utilized by Berkeley, West 
Hollywood and Santa Monica with the more passive, complaint-driven enforcement approach 
utilized by Oakland, San Francisco and until very recently Los Angeles, and shows that 
Berkeley’s active enforcement is both more effective and more costly than complaint-driven 
programs.  

Section Three describes the administrative structure of the Rent Stabilization Program and its 
relationship with other City departments.  

Section Four gives an historical overview of changes in the Program’s budget, fees and staffing 
from its inception to the present day, showing how staffing gradually declined as a result of 
vacancy decontrol and then stabilized in response to increased demands resulting from changes 
in the program environment, most notably the current affordable housing crisis.  

Section Five describes the effort underway for the past several years to reorient Program 
activities to better meet the evolving needs of tenants and property owners under current 
conditions. These include a stronger emphasis on educating property owners and tenants about 
good cause for eviction, a greater emphasis on dispute resolution, strengthened interdepartmental 



Page 3 of 21 
 

coordination and improved administrative capacity and use of modern information technology. 
All of these efforts have received broad public support.  All of these changes have been 
implemented at a time when demand for our services are at an all-time high. 

I. Purposes and Scope of the Berkeley Rent Stabilization Program 

The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Program implements the Rent Stabilization and Eviction for 
Good Cause Ordinance passed by the voters in June 1980 and is governed under Article 17 of the 
Berkeley City Charter, “Elected Rent Stabilization Board”, passed by voter initiative in 
November 1982. The Ordinance (Berkeley Municipal Code Section 13.76) states: 

“The purposes of this chapter are to regulate residential rent increases in the city of 
Berkeley and to protect tenants from unwarranted rent increases and arbitrary, 
discriminatory, or retaliatory evictions, in order to help maintain the diversity of the 
Berkeley community and to ensure compliance with legal obligations relating to the 
rental of housing. This legislation is designed to address the City of Berkeley's housing 
crisis, preserve the public peace, health and safety, and advance the housing policies of 
the city with regard to low and fixed income persons, minorities, students, handicapped, 
and the aged.” 

The Rent Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause Ordinance responds to a severe and 
longstanding housing market failure in Berkeley and in the surrounding Bay Area. In a genuinely 
competitive market with adequate supply that increases as demand increases, competition would 
hold rents down to the minimum necessary to cover the costs of operating and maintaining 
housing and providing a modest profit. Instead, for the past forty years Bay Area rents have been 
based on scarcity in a market where supply has failed to increase with demand, making them 
among the highest rents in the United States. Under such circumstances, tenants are easily taken 
advantage of unless protected by strong and effective regulation.  

The Ordinance also falls within Berkeley’s tradition of demanding equal rights for all, providing 
tenants in good standing with a level of security in their homes that is nearly equivalent to that 
available to homeowners with fixed-rate mortgages. Berkeley’s voters have affirmed their 
continuing support for rent stabilization and eviction for good cause many times over the years, 
for example by strengthening the limits on owner move-in evictions in 2000 and adopting 
additional amendments proposed by the elected Rent Board in 2004,, with the passage of 
Measure AA in November 2016, and, most recently, with the passage of Measure Q in 
November 2018.  

Berkeley’s current system of rent regulation can best be described as “vacancy decontrol – 
recontrol”.  In 1980 the voters established a strong form of rent regulation called “vacancy 
control”, which set base rents and allowed increases without regard for changes in tenancy. In 
1995 the state legislature overrode the will of the voters of Berkeley and passed the Costa 
Hawkins Act, which allows the landlord to set the initial rent of a new tenancy, a system called 



Page 4 of 21 
 

“vacancy decontrol”. Once the unit is re-rented it is again controlled for the duration of the 
tenancy, with limits set on future increases in order to provide stability and security to the new 
tenant. Vacancy decontrol began on January 1, 1999 after a three-year phase-in period.  

The good cause for eviction provisions of the ordinance govern nearly the entirety of the 
approximately 27,000 rental units in Berkeley, while the rent stabilization provisions apply to 
approximately 21,000 units in multi-family properties built before 1980. About 19,000 of these 
units are required to register at any given time and the other 2,000 units are temporarily exempt. 
The most common reason for temporary exemption is that the unit is rented to a tenant who 
participates in either the Section 8 Portable Voucher or Shelter Plus Care programs. Permanently 
exempt units include those built after 1980 and most single-family and condominium units. 

The Berkeley Rent Board is now responsible for administering rent regulations for two parallel 
sets of tenancies: “old rent control” tenancies in units that have never received a vacancy 
increase and newer tenancies in units that have had a vacancy increase bringing the unit to 
market rent. At this point slightly more than 88% of stabilized units have turned over at least 
once since January 1, 1999 and have tenancies that began at market rent under the vacancy 
decontrol – recontrol rules.  

Approximately 2,000 households have tenancies that began prior to January 1, 1999 and most of 
these have rents that are based on the original (usually 1980) base rent plus allowable annual and 
individual rent adjustments. There are also a small number of units within this group that 
received additional increases during the 1996 – 98 phase-in period. The rent ceilings for these 
long-term rent-controlled tenants are usually from 60% - 75% below the current market rent. 
According to the Rent Board’s 2009 tenant survey, the great majority of the tenants who fall 
under “old rent control” are low-income and 37% of these households include a resident who is 
disabled, elderly or both. Even with rents substantially below the current market rate, 42% were 
paying over 30% of their income for rent and the majority would be hard put to afford other 
housing in Berkeley. (For more details, see Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board, Report on the 
April – May 2009 Survey of Tenants of Registered Rental Units, March 15, 2010, available on 
the Rent Board web site under Research Reports.) 

By way of comparison with other housing programs, the Berkeley Housing Authority assists just 
over 1,900 tenants with Section 8 vouchers or certificates and the City’s non-profit housing 
organizations have, over the past forty years, developed an inventory of about the same number 
of units of subsidized housing (with about 300 units that fall in both groups) for a total of about 
3,500 assisted households. Meanwhile, taking both old and new tenancies, Berkeley has more 
than 8,000 low-income non-student tenants living in the private rental housing market who are 
provided with protection and stability by the Rent Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause 
Ordinance. In addition, thousands of students and middle-income tenants also benefit from clear 
rules, a more level playing field between landlords and tenants, and a place to go for advice and 
to resolve disputes. 



Page 5 of 21 
 

The Rent Board has an important role in monitoring evictions as well as rents. Although 
evictions are carried out through the courts, the Rent Board is notified of all eviction actions and 
monitors them to ensure that they involve valid causes for eviction and to ensure that vacancy 
increases are not granted in cases that fall under the exceptions in the Costa Hawkins Act. The 
Board also administers the requirements of both the state Ellis Act, for owners evicting their 
tenants to go out of the rental business, and the corresponding local Ellis Ordinance, which 
provides a timeline and relocation payments to any tenants.  

Eviction monitoring is particularly important for units occupied by long-term tenants, since 
vacancy decontrol can create a major economic incentive to vacate such units and restart the rent 
at current market levels. The Rent Board’s 2010 economic study demonstrated that, as a result of 
vacancy decontrol and the continued high demand for rental units in Berkeley, most landlords 
have received major increases in rents. Since 2010, market rents have increased by over 75%.  
On an annual basis 2010 rents in Berkeley were more than $100 million higher than they would 
have been if vacancy control had remained in place or if rents at the beginning of rent control 
had simply increased at no more than the rate of inflation, as they would have in a more 
competitive housing market. This amount has increased substantially since 2010 and we hope to 
have updated figures available within the next year. This additional $100 million in annual rental 
income, virtually all of which goes into net operating income, has increased the value of 
Berkeley’s rental properties by over one billion dollars. However, to date, it has not increased 
Berkeley’s tax revenues by very much, since most rental properties have not turned over since 
vacancy decontrol and they retain the much lower property tax rates mandated by Proposition 13. 
(For more details, see Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board, The Effects of Rent Stabilization and 
Vacancy Decontrol on Rents, Rental Property Values and Rent Burdens in Berkeley, California, 
April 19, 2010, available on the Rent Board web site under Research Reports.) The tax rates for 
most rental properties have not been adjusted to reflect the current actual value. However, 
Berkeley voters recently overwhelmingly approved Measure U1 which more than doubles the 
business license tax for decontrolled units of larger owners.   The funding generated from this tax 
increase goes to programs designed to increase affordable housing and protect Berkeley residents 
from homelessness.  

 

II. The Value of a Strong Regulatory System 

Broadly speaking, there are two models of how to approach regulation of the landlord-tenant 
relationship; passive enforcement and active enforcement.  The passive enforcement approach 
makes information available but does not collect systematic information regarding current rents 
and enforces regulations only in response to complaints, which usually find their way to the 
regulatory agency only in egregious cases or where tenants have contact with an advocacy 
organization. The active enforcement approach uses extensive outreach to inform tenants and 
owners about their rights and obligations under the law and regulations, maintains full and 



Page 6 of 21 
 

accurate records through reporting requirements for initial rents and eviction proceedings, 
ensures information provided by owners is also sent to current tenants for review, provides 
mediation and dispute resolution services and actively enforces the law and program regulations 
when it finds violations.    

Berkeley is a city whose voters demand active enforcement. The Berkeley Rent Stabilization 
Program has 22.35 career employees and an adopted budget for the 2018/2019 fiscal year of 
$51,172,000,000, (revenues of $51,000,000) mostly from annual registration fees of $250 per 
unit.  Santa Monica, another high enforcement city, has an adopted 2018/2019 budget of 
$5,241,630, mostly from registration fees of $198 per unit. Its 25 employees oversee 26,335 rent 
stabilized units.  

By way of contrast, the City of Los Angeles, until very recently, operated a rent stabilization 
program with lower-level enforcement. Its ordinance applies to approximately 450,000 units, 
which are overseen by a staff of approximately 80 employees. An annual registration fee of 
$24.51 per unit generates most of the Program’s –appoximiately$14,500,000 in annual revenue 
for FY 2018/19.  Similarly, the Oakland Residential Rent Adjustment Program, which 
historically has taken a lower-level enforcement approach, has responsibility for regulating 
approximately 58,000 units with a staff of 11 in-house employees and FY 2018/19 budgeted 
revenue of $2,950,000 from a per unit fee of $30.  The City of Oakland, along with the Cities of 
Richmond and San Jose, are proposing expansions of their programs and these numbers will look 
significantly different for FY 2019/2020. Similar to Los Angeles, both Richmond and San Jose 
have amended their ordinance to require the registration of rental units.  It is important to note 
that for both Los Angeles and Oakland, in-kind support from other departments (City Attorney, 
Codes, IT, etc) are not included in the staffing or cost figures above. The differences in 
information outreach, rent registration and enforcement generate measurable differences in 
results. The City of Los Angeles’ survey of tenants in 2007-2008 and found that 27% of tenants 
reported current rents that were more than 105% of what they should have been based on the 
tenants’ initial rent and the increases allowed under the L.A. rent stabilization ordinance. 
(Economic Roundtable, Economic Study of the Rent Stabilization Ordinance (RSO) and the Los 
Angeles Housing Market, 2009, available at the L.A. Housing Department web site). By contrast, 
a 2009 survey of tenants in Berkeley found that 7% of pre-1999 tenants and 5% of tenants who 
moved in after 1998 reported a rent that was over 105% of the legal rent ceiling. (Berkeley Rent 
Stabilization Board, Report on the April – May 2009 Survey of Tenants of Registered Rental 
Units, March 15, 2010, available on the Berkeley Rent Stabilization Program web site). The 
Berkeley survey overstates the overpayment rate because it did not try to take into account legal 
“separate agreement” payments, such as for parking or storage space, which tenants may have 
considered part of the rent. Even so, it is clear that rent violations are quite rare in Berkeley and 
fairly common in Los Angeles. This is certainly related to the fact that Berkeley requires 
landlords to report the initial rent for all new tenancies and mails out an annual statement to all 



Page 7 of 21 
 

tenants with their legal rent ceiling. In contrast, Los Angeles did not require rent reporting until 
January 2017 when the City Council voted to begin the practice. 

 The Los Angeles study also found that 37% of tenants in stabilized units did not know that their 
rents were regulated. The Berkeley study found that 27% of tenants in stabilized units did not 
know, although only 3% of long-term Berkeley tenants did not report knowing that their rent was 
controlled. This reflects the particular challenge that Berkeley has in reaching the high-turnover 
student sector within its tenant population. After receiving the results of the survey, Berkeley has 
taken several measures to improve its outreach to college students.   

The Los Angeles ordinance has been the subject of major ongoing controversy and protests from 
tenants because its provisions allow landlords a minimum annual increase of 3% on sitting 
tenants, while over the past several years the rate of inflation has been much less than that. In 
contrast, Berkeley’s ordinance does not allow a minimum annual increase if there is no inflation.  

It is not a coincidence that the high-enforcement cities in California were originally cities with 
strong vacancy-control rent regulations, while the low-enforcement cities always allowed 
decontrol on vacancy. Vacancy control systems had to track the legal rent for each unit, and 
could easily continue the practice after the state mandated vacancy decontrol. In addition, since 
Berkeley has a database with the addresses of all rent stabilized units, it is able to send regular 
mailings to all landlords and tenants informing them of their rights and obligations under the law. 
It is worth noting that to better respond to the housing crisis, Los Angeles, Oakland, and several 
other cities that have had a passive enforcement approach to implementing their ordinances are 
already in the process of converting to an active enforcement system.  

 
III. Structure of the Rent Stabilization Program 

The elected Rent Stabilization Board hires the Executive Director, who hires all other staff and 
manages the Program. The Rent Stabilization Program budget for the 2018/2019 fiscal year, 
adopted last June, budgeted for 22.35 full-time equivalent staff (FTE) divided into four units: 
Registration and Public Information (10.85 FTE), Hearings (2.00 FTE), Legal (3.55 FTE) and 
Administration/Policy (5.95 FTE). (Minor changes are made throughout the year. The numbers 
used in this report always refer to the initial adopted budget unless otherwise specified.) 

The Registration unit handles the annual payment of registration fees for approximately 19,500 
units, as well as requests for waiver of penalties for late payments, registration of approximately 
4,500 new rents established after a change in tenancy each year, annual verification of 
approximately 2,000 units with temporary exemptions and verification of changes in exemption 
status. The unit staff calls landlords with past histories of late payment in advance of each year’s 
due date to help them avoid penalties. We are not aware of any other agency (public or private) 
that goes to these lengths to avoid assessing a penalty. If a penalty is assessed, the Board 



Page 8 of 21 
 

processes several hundred requests a year to have the penalty reduced or forgiven entirely based 
upon good cause, with relief being granted in over 90% of the cases. 

The Public Information unit (PIU) conducts extensive outreach to inform landlords and tenants 
of their rights and obligations through regular mailings, newsletters and other media. It holds 
monthly informational meetings at libraries and senior centers, weekly hours for counseling on 
the UC Berkeley campus, and does workshops for landlords and tenants. For example, in each of 
the past several years we held a workshop on eviction procedures for landlords to ensure that 
owners who needed to engage in this process knew how to do it correctly. PIU staff conducts 
regular workshops specifically for new property owners. Each of these workshops are generally 
attended by 60 or more owners, expressing appreciation for the comprehensive presentations. 
PIU contacts new owners of Berkeley rental property and sends information packets to new 
tenants. It sends information on the eviction for good cause requirements to tenants who have 
received a three-day eviction notice. PIU now responds to over 12,000 inquiries/client contacts 
from the public annually, and when landlords or tenants bring in specific situations the staff 
follows through advising one or both parties until the situation is resolved.  Although the Rent 
Program’s current software does not provide detailed statistics, we know that volume of inquiries 
and counseling has increased substantially since 2008. Initially in response to the uncertainty 
caused by threats of eviction on foreclosed properties and more recently in response to dramatic 
rent increases and perceived harassment and/or threatened eviction. Over the past few years we 
estimate that demand has gone up an additional 20%. 

Staff is allocated as needed between the Registration and Public Information units, with a total of 
10.85 FTE budgeted. 

The Hearings unit, with 2.00 FTE (including 1.4Hearing Examiners), deals with situations in 
which conflict has arisen between a landlord and a tenant.  In 2018 its staff held hearings on 167 
petitions for rent reductions or rent increases. In addition, the Hearings and Public Information 
units jointly conduct a mediation program and held 84 formal mediations in 2018. Hearings staff 
also carry out occasional special projects. 

The Legal unit, with 3.55 FTE, is responsible for advising the Board and Executive Director on 
all legal matters, similar to how the City Attorney advises the City Council and City Manager. 
The Legal Unit also handles collection of unpaid registration and penalty fees, reviews hearings 
unit decisions that are appealed to the Board and responds to writs and lawsuits filed against the 
Board. In 2010 the unit filed in small claims court against 140 properties and subsequently had to 
file liens with the County on 40 of these properties.  When banks foreclose on a property and fail 
to pay fees, leaving them to an often unknowing new owner, the Legal unit will join with the 
new owner in pursuing payment from the bank.  Since 2010 the economic situation for owners 
facing foreclosure has abated considerably and the number of cases requiring litigation has 
decreased accordingly, the staff resources have been redirected to the outreach and counseling 
services 



Page 9 of 21 
 

The Administrative/Policy unit, with 5.95 FTE, includes the Executive Director and Deputy 
Director, who are responsible for providing leadership and managing the agency under the 
general direction of the elected Board, drafting and maintaining the annual budget, hiring and 
promotions, grievances and disciplinary actions, contract negotiations, and maintaining effective 
relations with other elected officials, heads of other City departments and the public. The unit is 
also responsible for payroll, office administration, staffing meetings of the Board and its nine 
committees, and conducting research and analysis and producing reports.  

Other City departments carry out several administrative support functions, although the City 
Charter does not require the Rent Board to use them. They include the City Auditor, 
Finance/Treasury, City Clerk, Human Resources, and an outside auditor selected by City. With 
the exception of the Executive Director, who is hired directly by the elected board with the 
assistance of an executive search firm, all personnel matters are conducted in consultation with 
the Human Resources Department in strict conformance with their procedures. The Executive 
Director hires and promotes staff through the City of Berkeley’s civil service process. The City’s 
Human Resources Department handles the outreach, determines eligibility for the list and ranks 
the candidates. All top candidates and others from within the City system are interviewed by a 
panel that provides recommendations to the Executive Director. The permanent staff, hired by 
the Rent Board, almost universally were ranked in the “most highly qualified” group by the HR 
Department and received the highest ranking by the professional review panel conducting the job 
interviews. 

All Rent Program positions except that of the Executive Director are defined within the City’s 
job classification system. When the positions of Deputy Director, Administrative Staff Assistant, 
and Senior Hearing Examiner were created, it was reviewed not only by the Rent Board but also 
by the City’s Personnel Commission and then approved by the City Council. The Rent Program 
Executive Director is co-signatory with the City Manager on all relevant union contracts and 
normally participates in contract negotiations as part of the management team. Employees at the 
Rent Program have seniority rights within the City system as a whole. The grievance and 
disciplinary procedures are defined by the union contracts and the Rent Program does what all 
other City departments do and follows the advice of the Human Resources Department and the 
Labor Relations Coordinating Committee.  

Rent Program staff, like all City staff, is paid through the City Auditor’s payroll unit. The 
Finance Department handles the Rent Program’s banking functions. Purchasing is conducted 
under the advice of the Finance Department, following standard City bidding and RFP 
procedures, with the exception that the Rent Program staff may, with approval of the Executive 
Director, take advantage of cost savings from, for example, obtaining more bids than the City 
normally requires or by using an immediate credit card payment to obtain a lower cost.  

The Rent Program originally hired its own Information Technology staff, but now relies on both 
the Information Technology Department for basic support, and contracts with outside consultants 
for IT project management and programming services. This arrangement was intended to both 
provide more comprehensive service and greater flexibility as needs change.   



Page 10 of 21 
 

 
IV. Berkeley Rent Program Annual Budgets, An Overview of Changes from 1980 - 2018 

Table 1 below shows changes in the Rent Stabilization Program finances and staffing over time. 
After each several years of data there is an explanation of major issues and changes. Some of the 
information is not readily available for the early years, but later reports provided historical data 
on annual registration fees going back to the beginning of the agency in 1980 and on staffing 
FTEs (full-time equivalents) going back to 1985. The adopted budget is given starting in 1988-
89 and actual expenditures since 1990/91, rounded to the nearest $1,000.  
 
When the agency began in 1980/81 the initial budget and staffing was completely unrealistic. 
The agency needed to determine which units were covered and which were exempt and register 
initial base rents for covered units while dealing with a deluge of lawsuits and concerted refusal 
to comply with the law. The owners of thousands of units tried to prevent the agency from 
carrying out its mission by refusing to pay fees or register base rents, forcing the City Council to 
lend money to support the program. In 1982 a voter initiative increased penalties for late 
payment and empowered the Board to place liens on properties whose owners failed to pay. 
Compliance increased substantially the following year.  
 
Santa Monica passed its ordinance in 1979 and began rent registration with an annual fee of 
$12.50 per unit, which may have provided the model for Berkeley’s starting point of $12. Two 
years later, in 1981, the Santa Monica fee was set at a more realistic $72 per unit. Berkeley was 
several years slower in coming to this realization, with the fee reaching $60 in 1984.  
 
Table 1: Rent Board Budget History (see Appendix for full table without breaks for commentary) 
 
Fiscal Year  FTE   Fee  Adopted Budget Actual Expenditures 
 
1980 – 1981    $12 
1981 – 1982    $12 
1982 – 1983    $30 
1983 – 1984    $30 
1984 – 1985    $60 
1985 – 1986  31.5  $60 
 
 
In 1986 the legislature passed the Petris Act, requiring rent control agencies to certify rent 
ceilings by the end of the following year. Staffing reached its peak in FY 1986-87 as the Agency 
hired more staff in a final effort to clarify the base rents for as many units as possible before the 
deadline.  
 



Page 11 of 21 
 

Fiscal Year  FTE   Fee  Adopted Budget Actual Expenditures 
 
1986 – 1987  36.0  $60 
1987 – 1988  31.5  $80     
1988 – 1989  31.5  $80  $1,861,000 
1989 – 1990  32.93  $100  $2,220,000 
1990 – 1991  33.63  $100  $2,180,000  $2,676,000 
1991 – 1992  28.35  $136  $2,385,000  $2,147,000 
1992 – 1993  29.65  $125  $2,510,000   NA 
1993 – 1994  26.2  $125  $2,400,000  $2,410,000 
1994 – 1995  26.9  $115  $2,345,000  $2,290,000 
 
In the November 1990 elections a new majority gained control of the Rent Board. They cut 
programs and staff and approved major rent increases in response to Searle v. City of Berkeley 
Rent Stabilization Board.  The City Council filed suit against the elected Board arguing that the 
increases were larger than legally necessary. At that point the Rent Board attorneys and a legal 
secretary (3.5 FTE) were moved from the City Attorney’s Office to the Rent Board to eliminate 
the resulting conflict of interest.  The Rent Board majority changed again in the November 1994 
elections, but in 1995 the state legislature passed legislation mandating vacancy decontrol. The 
Costa Hawkins Act created a three-year phase-in period from 1996 to 1998 in which landlords 
could receive a 15% vacancy increase and full vacancy decontrol began on January 1, 1999.  
 
As vacancy decontrol went into effect the number of rent increase petitions filed by landlords 
declined, as did the level of litigation. In FY 1996/97 Rent Program staff included a Chief Legal 
Counsel, two Staff Attorney positions and 4.6 Hearing Examiners. By FY 2002/03 the Chief 
Legal Counsel was eliminated and there were 2.3 Hearing Examiners.  (See Table 3 for detailed 
information on changes in the hearings unit.)  
 
Fiscal Year  FTE   Fee  Adopted Budget Actual Expenditures 
 
1995 – 1996  26.6  $125  $2,410,000  $2,266,000 
1996 – 1997  26.6  $112  $2,308,000  $2,278,000  
1997 – 1998  24.6  $112  $2,387,000  $2,405,000  
1998 – 1999  24.6  $112  $2,417,000  $2,234,000 
1999 – 2000  23.7  $124  $2,412,000  $2,299,000 
2000 – 2001  22.2  $124  $2,457,000  $2,286,000 
2001 – 2002  22.3  $124  $2,602,000  $2,464,000 
2002 – 2003  22.3  $124  $2,769,000  $2,676,000 
2003 – 2004  21.3  $136  $2,992,000  $2,751,000 
 



Page 12 of 21 
 

In November 2004 voters passed Measure O which was jointly sponsored by the Rent Board and 
the Berkeley Property Owners Association. It set the Annual General Adjustment in rent at 65% 
of the increase in the Consumer Price Index rather than according to an annual cost study 
conducted by an outside consultant. With the onset of the financial crisis and recession in 2008 
and subsequent recovery, there was an upsurge in demand for counseling that has continued 
unabated to the present.  
   
Fiscal Year  FTE   Fee  Adopted Budget Actual Expenditures 
 
2004 – 2005  20.3  $136  $3,155,000  $2,857,000 
2005 – 2006  19.3  $154  $3,236,000  $2,967,000 
2006 – 2007  19.3  $154  $3,290,000  $3,107,000  
2007 – 2008  19.3  $170  $3,525,000  $3,313,000  
2008 – 2009  19.3  $170  $3,517,000  $3,546,000 
2009 – 2010  20.4  $194  $3,995,000  $3,496,000 

2010 – 2011  20.95  $194  $3,950,000  $3,648,000 
2011 – 2012  20.55  $194  $3,950,000  $3,859,000 
2012 – 2013  25.05*  $194  $4,270,000  $4,174,000 

2013 – 2014  21.45  $194  $4,120,000  $3,954,000 
2014 – 2015  20.75  $194  $4,245,000  $3,961,731 
2015 – 2016                21.65               $213                $4,550,000                  $4,549,995 
2016 – 2017  23.35  $234  $4,862,000  $4,943,059 
2017 – 2018  22.35  $270  $5,525,740  $4,584,705 
2018 – 2019   22.35  $250  $5,172,000        N/A      
 
 * At no time was the actual staffing level above 21.0 FTE  
 
Fully 77% of the Rent Program budget is for staff salaries and benefits. For a dozen years 
staffing remained largely level (or decreased slightly) but expenditures have increased 
substantially. This reflects the contracts negotiated by the City of Berkeley with its employee 
unions, especially the rapid increases in benefit costs resulting from the increased cost of health 
insurance and increased contributions to pension plans. For example, in FY 2002/2003 with a 
stock market boom under way and CalPERS reporting the pension plan fully funded as a result, 
employee benefits were budgeted at 25% of employee salaries. Recently, with increased pension 
and health insurance costs, employee benefits were over 68% of salary. In other words, a 
minimum of $900,000 of the FY 2016/17 budget was the result of the increased benefits ratio 
since 2002. Without that change, the increase in the budget between 2002/2003 matches or is 
less than the rate of inflation in the Bay Area. In response to tremendous demand for services, 
the staffing level was increased to 23.35 FTE.  This level is not as high as pre-Costa staffing 
levels but does reflect our need to respond in a time of extended crisis. 



Page 13 of 21 
 

 
It should be noted that the problem of increasing pension costs is the result of the investment 
strategy chosen by the California Public Employees Retirement System, not the pensions 
themselves. CalPERS did not set aside adequate reserves for an eventual market downturn, and 
undercharged the State and local governments during a decade of high stock-market returns.      
It is as if local governments had borrowed against their pension obligations during the stock-
market boom of the 2000s and now have to repay the money. If pension costs had been correctly 
estimated, then personnel costs would have been higher during that period and the Rent Board 
would have charged higher fees. In effect, landlords and tenants are now paying higher fees to 
make up for the unrealistically low fees charged in earlier years.  
 
Since the passage of the Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) in 2012 pension costs 
have lowered as a percentage of employee salary. Employees hired by the Rent Stabilization 
Program after June 1, 2013 make a higher contribution to their retirement plan and have a less 
costly plan that is based on a retirement age of 62 rather than 55.  In Fiscal Year 2016/2017 the 
actual cost of benefits were 68% of salary for Program employees.  Due to the increasing number 
of newer hires that are entering CalPERS under PEPRA, the Program’s employee benefits to 
salary ratio decreased to 65% for Fiscal Year 2017/2018.  Now that PEPRA employee’s make-up 
more than half of the current staff, benefits are projected to be closer to 60% of salary for Fiscal 
Year 2018/2019.  
 

V. Meeting the Challenges of the 21st Century 
 
Our agency changes to meet the evolving needs of the community we serve. What is often not 
understood is that, while Costa-Hawkins largely eliminated the need for hundreds of 
administrative hearings to determine building-by-building fair return requirements, the Rent 
Board’s other responsibilities have remained intact and in some cases have increased in scope 
and importance.   
 
Eviction for Good Cause 
 
With the passage of Costa-Hawkins the number of hearings has decreased but the financial 
incentive for an owner to evict a long-term tenant in good standing has increased dramatically. In 
the first few years of vacancy decontrol we witnessed hundreds of cases of owners attempting to 
evict tenants without “good cause”, so that they could increase the rent paid by a new tenant.  
This undermines the stated intent as well as the integrity of the Ordinance. The Board responded 
by increasing outreach and information and ensuring that low-income households had access to 
eviction defense services from local legal assistance organizations. All new owners and new 
tenants receive a package of information from the Program concerning our services and the 
protections offered under the law.  Over the past decade, all owners and tenants received an 



Page 14 of 21 
 

informative and easy to read newsletter several times a year. The format has changed to a more 
attention-getting large size postcard focused on one or two topics.  
 
In response to the foreclosure crisis we created a new outreach program to ensure that tenants in 
foreclosed buildings are aware of their rights.  Representatives of lenders routinely demand that 
tenants in foreclosed buildings leave their homes and threaten them with eviction despite the fact 
that foreclosure is not a “good cause” for eviction under Berkeley’s Rent Stabilization and 
Eviction for Good Cause Ordinance.  The Rent Program staff obtains information monthly on 
properties that are declared to be in default or foreclosure and then mails information to all units 
on these properties informing occupants that if they are a tenant they have a right to remain in 
their unit. The mailing also provides the tenant with contact information for the Rent Board and 
legal assistance organizations. Staff at the East Bay Community Law Center and the Eviction 
Defense Center have informed us that Berkeley tenants are better informed of their rights than 
tenants in neighboring cities and more likely to contact them if their tenancy is threatened. 
 
Reallocation of staff to dispute resolution 
 
Although the Berkeley Property Owners Association threatens litigation against the Rent Board 
on a regular basis, the overall level of litigation in Superior Court involving the Rent Board is 
down and one of the two previous Staff Attorney III positions has been replaced by a Staff 
Attorney I. Current budgeted legal staffing is now one Staff Attorney III and two Staff Attorney 
II positions. Part of an FTE of the Staff Attorney II position is assigned to the Public Information 
Unit to assist in responding to particularly difficult questions and to provide oversight of the 
small claims court cases.   
 
Table 2: Cases filed in Small Claims Court and Liens filed with Alameda County 
 
Year   Small Claims Cases  Liens Filed 
2007/8       53          17 
2008/9      84          33 
2009/10     91          29 
2010/11   140          40 
2011/12   133          33 
2012/13     73          16 
2013/14     69          17 
2014/15                                    61                                        8   
2015/16                                    90                                       13 judgements, # liens unknown 
2016/17                                    44          10 
2017/18                                    40            7                                       
 



Page 15 of 21 
 

At one point in the mid-1980’s the Board filed over 1000 cases in a year for unpaid fees and 
penalties. Several hundred a year was the norm through the 1990’s.  Since 2000, we have 
averaged between 50-100 cases per year. As Table 2 (above) shows peak of the foreclosure crisis 
(2011 and 2012) was an exception, where between130-140 cases were filed. On average no more 
than one small claims case a year is denied by the commissioner hearing the case although a few 
are remanded to the Rent Board for review of newly made claims that the unit is exempt.  The 
number of cases filed in 2016 increased somewhat because staff reviewed the exempt status of 
12,000 units adding more than 250 previously unregistered units to the rolls.  In the past  

 
The number of Hearing Examiners went from 6.85 in 1991/92 to 4.6 in 1996/97 to 2.3 in 
2000/01 was further reduced to 1.4 in the 2016/17 fiscal year  (See Table 3). The Rent Program 
is now placing greater emphasis on providing mediation services to try to resolve landlord-tenant 
disputes. This reduces landlord-tenant litigation and formal complaints that require hearings and 
improves landlord-tenant relations generally. Mediation has been particularly effective in 
assisting owners who are locked into disputes with long-term tenants that might otherwise result 
in repeated hearings or eviction notices and going to court. 
 



Page 16 of 21 
 

Table 3: Rent Hearings and Mediations by Calendar Year 
 
  Hearing Landlord Tenant  Appeals         Examiner 
  Petitions Petitions Petitions to Board Mediations FTE 
 
1992  NA          6.85 
1993  NA          5.35 
1994  NA  NA  NA      4.6 
1995  485  345  128  NA  NA  4.6 
1996  381  190  184      4.6 
1997  425  192  222  NA  NA  4.6 
1998  362  167  191      2.6 
1999  364    88  235  NA  NA  3.2 
2000  325    75  250      3.2 
2001  312    66  245  20  NA  3.3 
2002  262    54  204  29    2.3 
2003  161    42  111  22  NA  2.3 
2004  122    30    78  19    2.3 
2005  117    21    89    7  NA  2.3 
2006  142    23  103   12      5  2.3 
2007  118    29    82    9    16  2.3 
2008  152    36  100    9    13  2.3 
2009  134    26    98  15    70  2.3 
2010  104    22    75  13  135  1.95* 
2011  128    25    74    8    83  1.85 
2012  151    58    83  13    88  1.85 
2013  145    57    88    8  118  1.85 
2014  141    52    89     7    81  1.85* 
2015      153    69    84  12    89  1.50 
2016  176    64   112    4    98  2.00* 
2017  193    52   141  12  100  1.70* 
2018  169    61   108    5    84  1.40 
 
Notes: Petition data from 2006 /2010 are based on December 1st of the previous year through November 30th.  
Hearings for “Certification”, “Occupancy” and “Exempt Status” are not categorized as landlord or tenant petitions.  
* The FY 2009/10 FTE of 2.45 was changed to 1.95 with the loan of 0.5 FTE to the City as a cost saving measure.  
Similarly, in FY 2014 we budgeted 1.85 FTE but due to staff turn-over only used 1.5FTE.  In 2016, 2.0 FTE was 
budgeted but actual allocation was closer to 1.5 FTE. In 2017, 2.0 FTE was reduced to 1.4 FTE. 
No statistics on mediations were kept prior to 2006, although a few were done on an informal basis.  
FTE is for the fiscal year including January-June of the calendar year for which hearing data is given. 
 



Page 17 of 21 
 

One way the Rent Program has reduced costs while helping to maintain staffing in its Hearings 
Unit is by making Hearing Examiners available to the Berkeley Housing Authority, with their 
hourly costs reimbursed by the BHA. The number of BHA cases heard declined since FY 
2016/17. For nearly a decade Examiners have generally done 10 - 20 hearings a year for the 
BHA. In FY 2015-16, we began conducting Shelter Plus Care hearings for the Housing 
Department. Rent Program Hearing Examiners can also serve as back-up for the City Hearing 
Examiner when she is away or backlogged, with the hourly costs paid by the City Manager’s 
Office. It is essential for the program to maintain its own staff of experienced Hearing 
Examiners. The issues are too specialized and specific to the Berkeley ordinance and its 
implementing regulations for contracting with outside hearing examiners to be successful. 
Berkeley and several other rent control jurisdictions that have experience with hiring outside 
hearing examiners have ultimately decided to hire in-house examiners given the complexity of 
the governing laws and regulations. 
 
The Rent Board has gradually decreased the number of staff and the proportion of higher salaried 
staff. Its goal has been to prevent or avert conflict through information and counseling rather 
than adjudication.  When there is a dispute, staff tries to resolve it with the least conflict possible 
(voluntary mediation rather than a formal hearing) in order to preserve the relationship between 
the parties and contain costs. 
 
Interdepartmental Coordination 
 
In addition to conducting hearings for the city, the Rent Stabilization Program routinely provides 
assistance to other departments.  Tenant petitions for rent reductions are one of the City’s tools 
for ensuring that landlords correct housing code violations.  The Planning Department review of 
applications for condominium conversion includes a Rent Program staff review of whether there 
have been evictions on the property of a nature that would disqualify it from conversion under 
the City’s condominium conversion ordinance. The Board has been requested to perform a 
similar review in order to assist with enforcement of the Short-Term Rental Ordinance. The Rent 
Board is reimbursed for assisting the City with the Condominium Conversion and the Short-
Term Rental Ordinance. The Auditor’s Office uses data on rent ceilings to help track down 
owners who fail to pay the required percentage of gross rent as business license tax.  
 
The Rent Board is working to improve cooperation with the Planning and Development 
Department, the Health, Housing and Community Services Department, the Auditor and the IT 
and Finance Departments. Important issues that involve both the Rent Stabilization Program and 
the Departments under the City Council in recent years have included: 
 

• assistance in drafting and the ongoing tracking of the Tenant Buyout Ordinance 
and the Tenant Protection Ordinance;   



Page 18 of 21 
 

• increasing seismic safety in “soft story” buildings, where the ground floor may 
collapse in a major earthquake;  

• improving energy efficiency in rental properties;  
• setting conditions for demolition of existing rental housing to allow redevelop-

ment of the site at higher densities, which could displace long-term tenants; 
• developing appropriate procedures for dealing with owners of unpermitted units 

while minimizing harm to their tenants; 
• housing code enforcement and improvements to citywide habitability; 
• assisting in developing a smoking ordinance for multifamily properties to ensure 

that health and safety goals are met without causing improper evictions; 
• assisting in extending recycling to multifamily rental buildings; 
• assisting in extending disaster preparedness organizing to multifamily buildings; 
• improving tax revenue collection through pooling information on rents. 
• Implementation of the Ellis Eviction mitigation Ordinance. 
• Posting of the rules and the rates for tenant screening fees under recent ordinance 

adopted by the City Council. 
• serving,  at the request of the City Manager, as the initial point of contact and 

counseling for tenants displaced in several major fires concerning their rights as 
well as possible resources to assist them in their relocation; 

• assisting in the development and implementation of Berkeley’s Short-Term 
Rental Ordinance.  

 
In addition, since protection of tenants from improper evictions is an essential part of the mission 
of the Rent Program, it is important to have procedures that provide an appropriate balance 
between enforcement of City zoning, housing and other code requirements and protection of 
tenants so that they can either return to their homes once violations are cleared or have a 
transition that prevents unnecessary disruption or even homelessness. Over the past decade a 
series of court decisions have changed the legal landscape in significant ways, with the result that 
some existing City procedures no longer provide the balance that was originally intended.  
 
Strengthening Internal Capacity 
 
The Rent Stabilization Program is most of the way through a several years long and much 
delayed process of improving internal procedures and upgrading Rent Program software for 
greater efficiency. The Rent Board’s Rent Tracking System software, which was over 20 years 
old and obsolete, was replaced in 2014.  Once fully developed, the new software is expected to 
make it possible to slightly reduce ongoing staffing in the registration unit as well as make Rent 
Board information more accessible and easier to analyze.  This is an ongoing process and efforts 
to expand and enhance these opportunities will be presented to the Board over the next few 
months. 



Page 19 of 21 
 

 
 
When the new system is fully developed, the Rent Board will be able to dramatically increase its 
use of the web for business and communications. We have already begun seeing some of the 
benefits of these changes and will continue these improvements over the next several years. The 
Rent Board is a high-volume agency, with annual registration of nearly 20,000 units as well as 
annual notifications of legal rent ceilings, new rent registration of several thousand units every 
year, and around 12,000 additional client contacts every year with questions and concerns that 
often required detailed knowledge of the rent ordinance and related City and State laws to 
resolve.  
 
The Board’s Rent Tracking System launched a new web portal in 2016 that allowed property 
owners to pay annual registration fees on line. This feature was expanded in 2018 allowing 
owners to transact most registration business online should they choose to do so.  Staff verifies 
all unit information provided regardless of if it is provided online, by mail or in person. We have 
used the new system to expand communication via email. Many owners received early notice of 
the AGA because they provided email addresses.  This is a feature we hope and expect to expand 
on over the next few years.  Email has allowed clients to receive information earlier and will 
eventually reduce postage and printing costs.  In addition, the Board has used social media, such 
as Facebook, in order to provide information and updates to the public. Increased use of email 
and social media will continue and extend the Board’s tradition of openness and transparency, 
currently best exemplified by having its meetings carried by cable TV, radio, and webcast with 
closed captioning and making agendas and accompanying staff reports available on the web. 



Page 20 of 21 
 

Table 1. Berkeley Rent Program Annual Budgets 
Fiscal Year  FTE   Fee  Adopted Budget Actual Expenditures 
1980 – 1981    $12        
1981 – 1982    $12         
1982 – 1983    $30        
1983 – 1984    $30        
1984 – 1985  NA  $60                
1985 – 1986  31.5  $60      
1986 – 1987  36.0  $60       
1987 – 1988  31.5  $80   NA                            NA 
1988 – 1989  31.5  $80  $1,861,000  $1,642,000 
1989 – 1990  32.93  $100  $2,220,000  $1,873,000 
1990 – 1991  33.63  $100  $2,180,000  $2,676,000 
1991 – 1992  28.35  $136  $2,385,000  $2,147,000 
1992 – 1993  29.65  $125  $2,510,000     NA 
1993 – 1994  26.2  $125  $2,400,000  $2,410,000 
1994 – 1995  26.9  $115  $2,345,000  $2,290,000 
1995 – 1996  26.6  $125  $2,410,000  $2,266,000 
1996 – 1997  26.6  $112  $2,308,000  $2,278,000  
1997 – 1998  24.6  $112  $2,387,000  $2,405,000  
1998 – 1999  24.6  $112  $2,417,000  $2,234,000 
1999 – 2000  23.7  $124  $2,412,000  $2,299,000 
2000 – 2001  22.2  $124  $2,457,000  $2,286,000 
2001 – 2002  22.3  $124  $2,602,000  $2,464,000 
2002 – 2003  22.3  $124  $2,769,000  $2,676,000 
2003 – 2004  21.3  $136  $2,992,000  $2,751,000 
2004 – 2005  20.3  $136  $3,155,000  $2,857,000 
2005 – 2006  19.3  $154  $3,236,000  $2,967,000 
2006 – 2007  19.3  $154  $3,290,000  $3,107,000  
2007 – 2008  19.3  $170  $3,525,000  $3,313,000  
2008 – 2009  19.3  $170  $3,517,000  $3,546,000 
2009 – 2010  20.4  $194  $3,995,000  $3,496,000 
2010 – 2011  20.95  $194  $3,950,000  $3,648,000 
2011 – 2012  20.55  $194  $3,950,000  $3,859,000 
2012 – 2013  25.05*  $194  $4,270,000  $4,174,000 
2013 – 2014  21.45  $194  $4,120,000  $3,954,000 
2014 – 2015   20.75  $194  $4,245,000                     $3,961,731 
2015 – 2016                   21.65                 $213                   $4,550,000                     $4,549.995 
2016 – 2017   23.35  $234  $4,862,000                 $4,943,059 
2017 – 2018  22.35  $270  $5,525,740  $4,584,705 
2018 – 2019   22.35  $250  $5,172,000        N/A      
 
 



Page 21 of 21 

Detailed information on Berkeley Rent Program annual budgets from the early years is not readily available, but later reports 
provided historical data on annual registration fees going back to the beginning of the agency in 1980 and on staffing FTEs (full-
time equivalents) going back to 1985. The contract with the IT Department is counted as an FTE. Temporary staffing prior to 
2009 is not readily available and is excluded to maintain comparability. The adopted budget is given starting in 1989 and actual 
expenditures beginning in 1988 -89 (except for 1992-93).               * at no time was actual staffing ever above 21.0 FTE. 



Code Description
Actual 
FY2019

Adopted 
FY2020

YTD 
3/4ths 

FY 2020

Projected 
Year-End 
FY 2020

Proposed     
FY 2021

11-01 Monthly Employees 2,185,910 2,500,000 1,646,068 2,250,000 2,482,000       
11-03 Hourly Employees 149,612 200,000 168,947 225,000 0
13-01 Overtime 13,668 10,000 1,372 5,000 5,000 
27-20 Benefits 1,429,066 1,650,000 1,103,615 1,520,000 1,620,000       
30-12 Stipends 53,200 53,000 37,800 51,300 53,500            
30-23 Misc. Legal Expenses 5,216 7,500 4,857 130,000 360,000          
30-36 Temp. Agency Employees 448 1,000 0 1,000 0
30-38 Misc. Professional Services 291,375 352,500 201,650 353,000 410,000          
30-42 Office Equip. Mtc. Svcs. / Furniture 2,704 13,000 6,876 13,000 13,000            
30-43 Bldg. & Structures Mtc. Svc. 237 400 250 400 400 
30-51 Bank Credit Card Charges 25,634 35,000 17,300 25,000 25,000            
40-10 Professional Dues &  Intern Fees 6,267 4,000 2,779 3,000 3,000 
40-31 Telephones 3,619 4,200 3,661 5,000 5,000 
40-50 Printing and Binding 20,293 38,000 25,483 32,000 25,000            
40-62 Meals & Lodging 706 4,000 0 1,000 1,000 
40-63 Registration Fees/Training 2,250 1,000 0 1,000 12,000            
40-61/64 Transportation & Commercial Travel 2,424 14,000 603 1,500 5,000 
40-70 Advertising/public access 40,331 45,000 33,248 50,000 30,000            
40-80 Books & Publications 13,745 13,000 8,543 13,000 13,000            
50-10 Rental of Land / Buildings 285,311 340,000 286,181 350,000 355,000          
51-10 Postage 43,761 45,000 28,673 35,000 25,000            
51-20 Messenger / Delivery 520 800 201 500 500 
55-11 Office Supplies 10,438 13,500 10,237 12,500 15,000            
55-50 Food and Water 2,139 3,000 647 2,000 2,000 
70-43 Office Equipment and Furniture 1,847 5,000 418 1,000 5,000 
70-44 Computers, Printers, Software 4,564 10,000 2,207 5,000 10,000            
75-25 PC Replacement/City Software Licences 9,500 9,500 0 9,500 50,709            
75-35 Mail Services 3,600 3,600 2,700 3,600 3,600 
75-50 City Vehicle / Fuel & Maint. 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 

Expenditure Subtotal** 4,608,188 5,377,500 3,590,575 5,100,800 5,531,209       
  Special Projects (RTS Upgrade, online registration, training) 235,846 182,500 30,090 80,000 565,000          

Annual Capital Reserve 0 400,000 0 0 0

Total Authorized Fund Expenditures* 4,844,034 5,960,000 3,625,905 5,180,800 6,096,209       
Total Authorized Fund Revenue* 5,251,527 5,150,000 5,003,670 5,020,000 4,850,000

Annual Surplus/Shortfall 407,493 (810,000) 1,377,765 (160,800) (1,246,209)

Previous FY Carryover Expenditures 51,190 51,190 51,190

FUND BALANCE (cash basis) 1,624,196 814,196 2,950,771 1,412,206 165,997
FUND BALANCE (accrual basis) 1,573,006 814,196 2,950,771 1,412,206 165,997

TOTAL UNCOMMITTED OPERATIONAL FUND BALANCE 1,073,006 714,196 912,206 130,997
* Note: this report only reflects charges & revenues against the Rent Board Fund (Fund 440) and 

does not include services charged to or received from other funds

** Note:  variance in actual expenditures and total fund balance reflects remaininng balance in reimbursment offeset escrow

Rent Stabilization Program
FUND 440

FY 2020 3/4th-Year Budget Update and Proposed FY 2021

Attachment 3



Classification Title Adopted  FY 19/20 Proposed FY 20/21

Accounting Office Specialist III 1.00 1.00

Associate Management Analyst 1.00 1.00

Associate Planner (Temporary) 0.00 1.00

Community Service Specialist II 6.00 1.00

Community Service Specialist III 0.80 6.00

Deputy Director 1.00 0.80

Executive Director 1.00 1.00

Hearing Examiner 1.00 0.00

Office Specialist II 4.30 4.00

Office Specialist III 1.00 1.00

Legal Secretary 0.00 0.80

Senior Hearing Examiner 1.00 1.00

Senior Legal Secretary 1.00 0.00

Senior Management Analyst 1.75 0.75

Senior Planner 1.00 1.00

Staff Attorney II 2.00 2.00

Staff Attorney III 1.00 1.00

TOTAL FTE: 24.85 23.35

Proposed Changes in FY 2021 include the following:
Eliminate a 1.0 FTE Staff Attorney I
Eliminate a 1.0 FTE Accounting Office Specialist II
Eliminate a 1.0 FTE Office Specialist II

Rent Board Position Detail 
Sorted by Classification

Attachment 4



Executive Director 1.00 Executive Director 1.00

Deputy Director 1.00 Deputy Director 1.00

Community Services Specialist II 1.00 Community Services Specialist II 1.00

Associate Management Analyst 1.00 Associate Management Analyst 1.00

Senior Planner 0.70 Senior Planner 0.70

Associate Planner (Temporary) 0.00 Associate Planner (Temporary) 1.00

Senior Management Analyst 1.00 Senior Management Analyst 0.00

Senior Legal Secretary 0.25 Senior Legal Secretary 0.00

Accounting Office Specialist II 0.00 Accounting Office Specialist II 0.00

Office Specialist II 1.00 Office Specialist II 1.00

Subtotal for FTE 6.95 Subtotal for FTE 6.70

Salary/Benefit Total = $1,315,000 Salary/Benefit Total = $1,250,000

Staff Attorney III 1.00 Staff Attorney III 1.00

Staff Attorney II 1.80 Staff Attorney II 1.60

Staff Attorney I 0.00 Staff Attorney I 0.00

Senior Legal Secretary 0.75 Senior Legal Secretary 0.00

Legal Secretary 0.00 Legal Secretary 0.40

Subtotal for FTE 3.55 Subtotal for FTE 3.00

Salary/Benefit Total = $810,000 Salary/Benefit Total = $600,000

Hearing Examiner 1.00 Hearing Examiner 0.00

Senior Hearing Examiner 1.00 Senior Hearing Examiner 1.00

Staff Attorney II 0.00 Staff Attorney II 0.20

Legal Secretary 0.00 Legal Secretary 0.40

Office Specialist II 0.60 Office Specialist II 0.00

Subtotal for FTE 2.60 Subtotal for FTE 1.60

Salary/Benefit Total = $490,000 Salary/Benefit Total = $415,000

Community Services Specialist III 0.80 Community Services Specialist III 0.80

Staff Attorney II 0.20 Staff Attorney II 0.20

Senior Management Analyst 0.75 Senior Management Analyst 0.75

Senior Planner 0.30 Senior Planner 0.30

Community Services Specialist II (1 Temp.) 5.00 Community Services Specialist II 5.00

Office Specialist III 1.00 Office Specialist III 1.00

Accounting Office Specialist III 1.00 Accounting Office Specialist III 1.00

Office Specialist II (0.50 Temp.) 2.70 Office Specialist II 3.00

Subtotal for FTE 11.75 Subtotal for FTE 12.05

Salary/Benefit Total = $1,645,000 Salary/Benefit Total = $1,865,000

Total RSB Staff 24.85 Total RSB Staff 23.35

Board Approved Changes in FY 2020 include the following: Proposed Changes in FY 2021 include the following:

Create temporary 1.0 FTE Associate Planner Eliminate a 1.0 FTE Staff Attorney I

Convert a 1.0 FTE Senior Management Analyst to a 1.0 FTE Staff Attorney I Eliminate a 1.0 FTE Accounting Office Specialist II

Eliminate a 1.0 FTE Hearing Examiner Eliminate a 1.0 FTE Office Specialist II

Create a 1.0 FTE Accounting Office Specialist II

Convert a 1.0 FTE Senior Legal Secretary to a 1.0 FTE Legal Secretary

Convert a temporary 1.0 FTE Community Services Specialist II to a permanent 

position

Convert a temporary 0.5 FTE Office Specialist to a permanent 1.0 FTE Office 

Specialist II

Hearings Unit Hearings Unit

Registration & Public Information Units Registration & Public Information Units

RENT BOARD POSITION DETAIL 
Sorted by Unit, Classification and Job Assignment

Budget Code 11-01 (Monthly Employees) + 11-03 (Hourly Employees)
FY 2020 Adopted FY 2021 Proposed

Administration / Policy Unit Administration / Policy Unit

Legal Unit Legal Unit

Attachment 5



ADMINISTRATIVE & POLICY UNIT
Executive Director

HEARINGS UNIT
Senior Hearing Examiner

(1.0 FTE)

LEGAL UNIT
Staff Attorney III (1.0 FTE)

REGISTRATION AND
PUBLIC INFORMATION UNITS

Deputy Director (1.0 FTE)

• Office Specialist II
(1.0 FTE)

• Staff Attorney II (1.8 FTE)

• Legal Secretary (0.4 FTE)

• Staff Attorney II (0.2 FTE)

• Legal Secretary (0.4 FTE)

• Comm. Svc.
Specialist II
(4.0 FTE)

• Office
Specialist II
(1.0 FTE)

• Comm. Svc.
Specialist II (1.0 FTE)

• Accounting Office
Special III (1.0 FTE)

• Office Specialist III
(1.0 FTE)

• Office Specialist II
(2.0 FTE)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(1.0 FTE) permanent

ELECTED 
RENT STABILIZATION BOARD

BERKELEY VOTERS

Proposed Berkeley Rent Stabilization Program FY 2020/21 Organization Chart 

Current Career and Temporary Positions FY 2020/21

Sorted by Division Supervision

Total Career Staff:  22.35 FTE
Total Temporary Staff: 1.0 FTE

Public Information Unit
Comm. Svc. Specialist III 

(0.8 FTE)

Registration Unit
Sr. Mgmt. Analyst  

(0.75 FTE)

Admin. Unit
Assoc. Mgmt. Analyst 

(1.0 FTE)

Policy Unit
Senior Planner 

(1.0 FTE)

• Comm. Svc.
Specialist II
(1.0 FTE)

• Temp. Associate
Planner
(1.0 FTE)

Attachment 6


	4.
	5.



